FILED SID J. WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

:

:

TIMOTHY LEE,

Petitioner,

Case No. 91,061

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA SECOND DISTRICT

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

RICHARD J. SANDERS Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0394701

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. 0. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (941) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

TOPICAL

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Pursuant to Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.210(b)(3), references to the record will be prefaced "R", followed by the volume number (in Roman numerals), followed by the page number(s). For example, "RIII-17-22" refers to pages 17 to 22 of volume III of the record.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The parties will be referred to as "defendant" and "the state".

Following a jury trial, defendant was convicted as charged of all seven counts with which he was charged. The offenses, with their respective sentences, are as follows:

<u>COUNT I</u> - Escape while being transported (Section 944.40, Florida Statutes (1995)) - 10 years imprisonment, habitual offender.

COUNT II = Battery on law enforcement officer
(Section 784.07, Florida Statutes (1995)) =
same sentence as Count I, concurrent.

COUNT III = Obstructing officer with violence
(Section 843.01, Florida Statutes (1995)) =
same sentence as Count I, concurrent.

COUNT IV - Possession of cocaine (Section
893.13(6)(a), Florida Statutes (1995)) - five
years imprisonment, concurrent.

COUNT V = Possession of cocaine (Section
893.13(6)(a), Florida Statutes (1995)) = five
years imprisonment, concurrent.

COUNT VI = Misdemeanor possession of marijuana
(Section 893.13(6)(b), Florida Statutes
(1995)) = time served.

COUNT VII = Possession of drug paraphernalia
(Section 893.147, Florida Statutes (1995)) =
time served.

(RI-12-15(information); 54-55(verdict); 56-70(judgment and sentences)).

The judgment and sentences were entered on January 3, 1996. (RI-56-70) Notice of appeal was filed on January 16, 1995. (RI-77)

The offenses charged in Counts I through IV occurred on June 1, 1995; the other three occurred on June 15, 1995. (RI-12-15)

These latter three counts were based on items found when the police came to arrest defendant for the June 1 offenses.

During voir dire, after counsel for both sides had questioned the first batch of prospective jurors, the following appears in the transcript:

THE COURT: Counsel approach the bench, please, when you're ready.

(The following bench discussion ensued:

THE COURT: What says the State?

[The State]: Accept.

THE COURT: What do you say?

[Defense Counsel]: The whole panel, Your

Honor?

Strike Mr. Vanwinkle.

(RII-25)

Defense counsel went on to strike three more jurors peremptorily. (RII-25-26)

As voir dire continued, the above scenario occurred four more times. (RII-42, 53, 67, 74) On each occasion, the trial court asked "counsel [to] approach the bench" and there is no indication that defendant was present on any of the occasions. The trial court never inquired of defendant whether he was waiving his right to be present at these bench conferences; nor did the trial court ask defendant if he ratified the challenges made by defense counsel outside defendant's presence.

During voir dire, defense counsel asked a group of prospective jurors if they felt that "police officers are only human and can

make mistakes?" (RII-35) Several panel members agreed with counsel's statement. (RII-36) The following exchange then occurred with panel member Holmes:

[Defense counsel]: So you would agree that a police officer would be trained to focus in on detail at the time of, perhaps, an arrest?

MS. HOLMES: Yes, to notice something that I wouldn't notice, perhaps.

[Defense counsel]: Okay. Would you hold them to a higher standard then? When a police officer gets up there and says this is the way it is, I mean, would it -- would you just -- it goes back to the credibility again of their testimony. They say they saw something a certain way and somebody else, a lay witness, says, well, I saw the same thing, but that's not the way it occurred. And all things being equal, aside from the fact that one's a trained police officer and one's not, are you going to give that trained police officer's version a little more credibility?

MS. HOLMES: I might be tempted, yeah.

[Defense counsel]: Okay. So what you're saying is you couldn't be sure whether or not you would not, in fact, give their testimony a little greater weight than a-non-police officer's testimony if all things were equal?

MS. HOLMES: If all things were equal.

[Defense counsel]: All other things equal, okay.

(RII - 37 - 38)

Defense counsel moved to strike Ms. Holmes for cause; the motion was denied. (RII-42) At the end of voir dire, after defense counsel had used all his peremptory challenges, the following exchange occurred:

[Defense counsel]: I'm going to ask for more peremptory challenges.

THE COURT: Negative. Why do you think you're entitled to one?

[Defense counsel]: I would strike Mr. Kaufmann.

THE COURT: Why do you think you're entitled to one?

[Defense counsel]: I believe the Court denied one challenge for cause that I had. I'm asking for a peremptory.

THE COURT: Denied.

(RII-75)

Prospective Juror Thornton was questioned about midway through the voir dire. (RII-42) He agreed with the State that marijuana should be illegal, and he said that "law enforcement officers should [not] be given any more credibility just because of [their status as officers]." (RII-43-44) The State then asked Mr. Thornton "do you know anybody, or yourself who's had a negative experience with law enforcement?" (RII-46) When Mr. Thornton replied "myself," the following exchange occurred:

[The State]: You have? And would that experience affect your ability to be fair and impartial?

MR. THORNTON: No.

[The State]: Okay. And was that -- you indicated you were accused of a crime or knew somebody accused of a crime. Is that where your negative experience came from?

MR. THORNTON: It was myself.

[The State]: Excuse me, I didn't --

MR. THORNTON: It was myself was accused of a crime.

[The State]: Uh-huh. And do you know anybody who's had maybe a negative experience with law enforcement officers in any way?

MR. THORNTON: No.

[The State]: Okay. And the fact that you -- actually you've been on both sides. You've been a victim and you've been accused of a crime.

Do you feel that the system, the judicial system, the justice system, however you want to call it, has worked for you? Has it been fair for you, or do you feel that it hasn't?

MR. THORNTON: Well, it -- we have -- I really can't answer that one right now.

[The State]: Is there something you would feel more comfortable saying outside the presence of other people?

MR. THORNTON: No, it's just hard to answer that question right now.

[The State]: Is there something you would feel more comfortable saying outside the presence of other people?

MR. THORNTON: No, it's just hard to answer that question right now.

[The State]: All right. And that brings us to the reasonable doubt....

(RII-46-47)

Mr. Thornton went on to assert he "d[id]n't have a problem" with the reasonable doubt standard, or with "relying simply on verbal testimony"; nor did he think he would "have a problem paying attention on Friday, because of something going on Friday in [his] li[fe]." (RII-48-50) He also said he did not have "any problems with African-Americans" and he agreed 1) "Police officers are human beings like the rest of us; they make mistakes"; 2) "The proof can only come from the witness stand"; 3) He "would...be able to put

his two cents worth in back there, if [he] were picked as a juror"; and 4) He would "stick to [his] guns [and] not sign a verdict form [he] didn't believe in." (RII-52-53)

The State moved to strike Mr. Thornton for cause, prompting the following exchange:

[The State]: The cause is that he was not able to answer my question whether the criminal justice system was fair. Since he can't answer that question at this time, we argue he's not being forthright with the Court at this time as to his opinions as to whether or not the system has treated him fairly or not and that has a bearing upon his ability to be a fair and impartial juror in this case.

[Defense counsel]: Your Honor, I object. At most, he was just very careful to think about, you know, answering a problem like -- I don't understand where he's coming up with a failure to be forthright. He answered all the questions.

THE COURT: Do you recollect that he refused or failed to answer that question?

[Defense counsel]: Wait a minute. Well, I believe -- now, I believe there was one question, but I would ask the Court to ask him if he would like to answer that outside the presence of the jury.

THE COURT: No, we don't do that, not a question that simple. You can ask some woman if she's ever been raped and she wants to talk about it outside the presence of the jury, that's one question, but do you think the judicial system works -- is that the way you got it? Did you understand he didn't have an opinion?

[Defense counsel]: He just didn't appear to = didn't appear to want to answer it.

THE COURT: Okay. Then I'll grant that. We'll let it go. Any others?

[Defense counsel]: But I mean, I would -- if I could just follow-up, Your Honor.

THE COURT: No, he's gone.

(RII-54-55)

At trial, two witnesses testified about the events on June 1, 1995. Deputies Harrell and Morris testified that they made a traffic stop of a car in which defendant was riding as a passenger. (RII-95-96) As defendant was getting out of the car, the deputies noticed two pieces of crack cocaine laying on the passenger's seat, where defendant had been sitting. (RII-97-98, 121-124) Defendant was arrested (for possessing this cocaine), handcuffed, and walked back to Deputy Harrell's cruiser. (RII-99-100, 125-129) Defendant then broke free, struck Deputy Harrell in the side, and fled on foot; the deputies pursued but lost track of him. (RII-101-102, 130-131)

On June 15, the deputies received information about where Defendant was living. (RII-137-138) When Deputy Billor went in the house, he found defendant coming down from the attic; defendant was wearing a pair of white shorts and a t-shirt. (RII-161-162) Deputy Billor went up into the attic and found a rolled up pair of brown pants. (RII-162) When he came down with the pants, defendant said "Hey, those are my pants." (RII-164) When Deputy Billor pulled several pieces of crack cocaine out of the pants, defendant then said "those aren't my pants." (RII-164) Deputy Billor also found a small amount of marijuana and some rolling papers in the pants pockets. (RII-164-166)

Laboratory analyst James Gibson verified that the substances found in the car on June 1 and in the pants on June 15 were crack cocaine and marijuana. (RII-180-183)

On direct appeal, defendant raised the same three issues he is raising in this Court. Affirming the convictions, the district court did not address Issues II and III. Lee v. State, 22 FLW D1608 (Fla. 2d DCA, July 2, 1997)(copy attached as appendix). As to Issue I, the court asserted:

[F]ailure to obtain a "Coney [v. State, 653 so. 2d 1009 (Fla. 1995) | waiver cannot be raised on direct appeal without an objection made on the same grounds at trial. Steinhorst v. State, 412 So. 2d 332 (Fla. 1982). We recognize that failure to obtain a Coney waiver has been deemed fundamental error by other district courts, see Butler V. State, 676 So. 2d 1034 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996); Wilson v. State, 680 so. 2d 592 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996), dismissed, No. 89,381 (Fla. Apr.21, 1997); Brower v. State, 684 So. 2d 1378 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996), rev. granted, No. 89,968 (Fla. May 14, 1997); however, we believe it more appropriate to raise allegations of unpreserved error in a motion for postconviction relief filed pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure This approach to reviewing Coney 3.850. errors gives defendants a meaningful opportunity to allege and demonstrate prejudice, and also serves to protect judicial resources.

We, therefore, affirm Lee's judgment and sentence. We acknowledge interdistrict conflict on this issue and certify to the Florida Supreme Court [the following question]:

IF A CONEY ISSUE IS NOT PRESERVED AT TRIAL, MUST A PRISONER FILE A POST-CONVICTION MOTION ALLEGING UNDER OATH THAT HE OR SHE WOULD NOT HAVE EXERCISED PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES IN THE SAME MANNER AS HIS OR HER ATTORNEY?

Defendant was tried on November 15, 1996. (RII-79) Coney applies here. State v.Mejia, 22 FLW S384 (Fla., June 26, 1997).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

ISSUE I The trial court fundamentally erred in failing to insure that Appellant knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently waived his right to be present at the bench when juror challenges were exercised or that Appellant ratified the challenges that were made outside his presence. Coney violations are fundamental error because Coney's requirement of express waiver or ratification would be meaningless if waiver could be found in silence. Thus, the interdistrict conflict must be resolved by quashing the decision below, and the certified question is moot (because it is based on the assumption that Coney violations are not fundamental error).

ISSUE II The trial court erred in failing to excuse Ms. Holmes for cause because Mr. Holmes' statements indicated a bias in favor of police officers.

ISSUE III The trial court erred in excusing Mr. Thornton for cause because there were no grounds for this excusal.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE TRIAL COURT FUNDAMENTALLY ERRED IN FAILING TO INSURE THAT APPELLANT KNOWINGLY, VOLUNTARILY, AND INTELLIGENTLY WAIVED HIS RIGHT TO BE PRESENT AT THE BENCH WHEN JUROR CHALLENGES WERE EXERCISED OR THAT APPELLANT RATIFIED THE CHALLENGES THAT WERE MADE OUTSIDE HIS PRESENCE.

The district court certified conflict on the question of whether "failure to obtain a <u>Coney</u> waiver [is] fundamental error...." <u>Lee</u>, supra, 22 FLW at D1608. The question certified by the district court is premised on the assumption that failure to obtain a <u>Coney</u> waiver is not fundamental error. Thus, this question will be addressed first.

A. CONEY AND FUNDAMENTAL ERROR

In <u>Coney</u>, the court held that "the defendant has a right to be physically present at the immediate site where potential juror challenges are exercised". 653 So. 2d at 1013. The facts in <u>Coney</u> were as follows:

Juror challenges in the present case were exercised on two occasions: first, during a brief bench conference after prospective jurors had been polled concerning their willingness to impose death, and second, during a lengthy proceeding at the conclusion of voir dire. Coney was not present at the sidebar where the initial challenges were made, and the record fails to show that he waived his presence or ratified the strikes.

Id.

The Court adopted the following rules of law:

As to Coney's absence from the bench conference, this Court has ruled:

[The defendant] has the constitutional right to be present at the stages of his trial where fundamental fairness might be thwarted by his absence. Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.180(a)(4) recognizes the challenging of jurors as one of the essential stages of a criminal trial where a defendant's presence is mandated.

<u>Francis v. State</u>, 413 So. 2d 1175, 1177 (Fla. 1982) (citations omitted). Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.180 provides:

- (a) Presence of the Defendant. In all prosecutions for crime the defendant shall be present:
- (4) at the beginning of the trial during the...challenging...of the jury.

Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.180(a).

We conclude that the rule means just what The defendant has a right to be it says: physically present at the immediate site where pretrial juror challenges are exercised. Where this is impractical, such as Francis. where a bench conference is required, defendant can waive this right and exercise constructive presence through counsel. such a case, the court must certify through proper inquiry that the waiver is knowing, voluntary, and intelligent. Alternatively, a defendant can ratify strikes made outside his presence by acquiescing in the strikes after they are made. See State v. Melendez, 244 So. 2d 137 (Fla. 1971). Again, the court must certify the defendant's approval of strikes through proper inquiry.

Id.

The state then conceded that a violation of these rules had occurred at Coney's trial, but argued that the error was harmless. The Court agreed, as follows:

[T]he record shows no prejudice to Coney. During the brief conference, several jurors were struck for cause by both the State and defense because of their views on the death penalty. None were excused peremptorily. The excusals "involved a legal issue toward which [Coney] would have had no basis for input," 1.e., the death-qualifying of prospective jurors. [Citation omitted]

Id.

When first released, the <u>Conev</u> opinion contained the following sentence: "Obviously, no contemporaneous objection by the defendant is required to preserve this issue for review, since the defendant cannot be imputed with a lawyer's knowledge of the rules of criminal procedure." <u>Conev V. State</u>, 20 Fla. L. Weekly S16, 17 (Fla., Jan. 5, 1995). However, this sentence was deleted (without explanation) in the final revised opinion.

The majority of the district courts have held that <u>Conev</u> violations are fundamental error:

According to the supreme court, "[t]he exercise of peremptory challenges has been held to be essential to the fairness of a trial by jury and has been described as one of the most important rights secured to a defen-[Citations omitted] Clearly, it is because this is considered such a critical stage of the proceedings that the court has undertaken to ensure that a defendant's right to meaningful participation in the decision of how peremptory challenges are to be used is assiduously protected. If a contemporaneous objection were required to preserve for appeal the issue of deprivation of that right, it seems to us that as a practical matter, the right would be rendered meaningless. Accordingly, to ensure the viability of the rule laid down (or "clarified") by the supreme court in Coney, we conclude that a violation of that rule constitutes fundamental error....

Mejia v. State, 675 So. 2d 996,998 (Fla.1st DCA 1996), rev. on
other grounds, State v. Mejia, 22 FLW S384 (Fla., June 26, 1997).

Accord, <u>Brower v. State</u>, 684 So. 2d 1378, 1379 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996) ("the procedure the <u>Coney</u> court prescribed in order for a defendant to waive his presence or ratify jury selection in the defendant's absence would be superfluous if the simple failure to make a timely objection had the same result"); Wilson v. State, 680 So. 2d 592 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996).

The second district disagrees, although its reasons for doing so are unclear. In the present case, the court agreed with Judge Altenbernd's concurring opinion in <u>Hill v. State</u>, 22 FLW D484 (Fla. 2d DCA, Feb. 21, 1997), in which he asserted:

Although I conclude that Mr. Hill has the right to raise the <u>Coney</u> issue, I do not believe he has the right to raise it on direct appeal.

There is nothing in this record to suggest that Mr. Hill would have taken any action at the bench that would have affected the make-up of this jury.

I will not enter the debate concerning the supreme court's reason for removing the sentence in the initial release of <u>Coney</u> that suggested a defendant need not or cannot preserve this issue at trial.

I assume a prisoner can raise this issue in a postconviction motion without the need to preserve it at trial. A prisoner may allege that his lawyer was ineffective by failing to read the advance sheets and advise the trial court of his client's newly announced right.

On the other hand, I cannot conclude that the $\underline{\text{Coney}}$ issue is a per se error.

Unlike a <u>Neil</u> issue where a jury either includes someone who should have been dismissed or excludes someone who should not have been dismissed, the <u>Coney</u> issue does not automatically affect the make-up of the jury.

Therefore, I conclude that Mr. Hill should be required to allege under oath and prove that

he would have affected the make-up of his jury if he had been allowed to be physically present at the bench conference.

<u>Id</u>. at D485 (citations and footnote omitted).

This, of course, is also the reasoning that supports the certified question in the present case.

It is clear that the second district is in error on this issue, for the reasons stated by the other district courts: if the defendant's right to be present is waived by silence (i.e., by failure to object), why would express waiver or ratification be necessary?

This conclusion is reinforced by the reasoning in three prior cases from this Court: the two cases Coney relied upon (Melendez and Francis) and Turner v. State, 530 So. 2d 45 (Fla. 1987).

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