IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA *

FILED

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

her Reputy Clark

SEP 2 1997

TIMOTHY LEE,

Petitioner,

910 61

CASE NO. 88,924

v.

.≉ .)

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF CERTIFIED QUESTION FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEALS SECOND DISTRICT

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

WILLIAM I. MUNSEY, JR. Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0152141 Westwood Center 2002 N. Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Tampa, Florida 33607 (813) 873-4739

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

> IF A CONEY ISSUE IS NOT PRESERVED AT TRIAL, MUST A PRISONER FILE A POSTCONVICTION MOTION ALLEGING UNDER OATH THAT *HE OR* SHE WOULD NOT HAVE EXERCISED PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES IN THE SAME MANNER *AS* HIS OR HER ATTORNEY?

> > (Text of 695 So.2d at 1315)

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Art. V, §3(b)(4), Fla.Const. Alternatively, the district court has acknowledged, <u>but not certified</u>, that its opinion is in conflict with decisions of other districts which hold that Coney errors are fundamental². See, <u>Butler v. State</u>, 676 So.2d 1034 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996); <u>Wilson</u>

¹Your undersigned has addressed the certified question as published by the district court and not the issue as re-framed by Petitioner.

²This same conflict of decisions has been acknowledged in <u>Neal v. State</u>, So.2d ____, 22 Fla.Law Weekly D1883, 1884 (Fla. 2d DCA No. 95-02792) (Opinion filed July 30, 1997).

v. State, 680 So.2d 592, dismissed, 693 So.2d 33 (Fla. 1997); Brower v. State, 684 So.2d 1378 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996), review granted, 694 So.2d 739 (Fla. 1997) as cited in Lee v. State, 695 So.2d 1314, 1315 (Fla. 2d DCA 1997). This Court would have had discretionary review had the district court certified conflict jurisdiction pursuant to Art. V, §3(b) (4), Fla.Const. Petitioner has not perfected Art. V, §3(b) (3), Fla. Const. conflict jurisdiction. The review before this Court is limited to the district court's certified question.

4

Respondent sets forth the background against which 'Coney" challenges have evolved. The petit jury is composed of local citizens who serve as triers of fact in a trial. The jury has two missions: (1) to hear the evidence presented; and, (2) to determine the consequences of that evidence. 'There is an entitlement to a jury trial. See, Art. 1, §16, Fla.Const. And, the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that "a defendant in all criminal prosecutions is entitled to trial by an impartial jury." The selection of a jury is begun through "voir dire." The potential jurors are asked to speak the truth. This case focuses on "voir dire" procedures. In <u>Mitchell</u> <u>v. State</u>, 458 So.2d 819 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984), the court noted that the 'examination of a juror on voir dire has a dual purpose,

б

namely, to ascertain whether a onyso cause for challenge exists and also determine whether prudence and good judgment suggests the exercise of a peremptory challenge." The goal of every federal and state bench and bar is to secure an "impartial jury." Both the United States of America and Florida are both multiethnic and multiracial; and, there is no question that this is an imperfect world in which the heads of bigotry and racism arise. The United States Supreme Court in Ham v. South Carolina, 409 U.S. 524, 93 S.Ct. 848, 35 L.Ed.2d 46 (1973) held that refusal to inquire into racial basis denies a citizen a fair trial. It becomes a matter of consequence when potential jurors respond falsely rather than truthfully. One remedy for this problem is either a challenge for cause or a peremptory challenge. Traditionally, the latter did not need to be supported by a legally recognized ground. In Swain v. Alabama, 380 U.S. 202, 85 S.Ct. 824, 13 L.Ed.2d 759 (1965), the Court defined a peremptory challenge as follows: "the essential nature of the peremptory challenge is that it is one exercised without a reason stated, without inquiry and without being subject to the court's control."

That said, there now are limitations on peremptory challenges. There are checks and balances against one of the parties attempting to influence the racial/ethnic/sexual composition of a

jury. As a starting point, the Supreme Court in Irvin y. Dowd, 366 U.S. 717, 81 S.Ct. 1639, 6 L.Ed.2d 751 (1961) has addressed jurors with opinions. In Irvin, the Court teaches that 'opinion" is not a bar to due process if the juror can lay aside that opinion and decide the case on the evidence; but, such a rule does not bar inquiry. Any finding of impartiality must meet constitutional standards. Against, this background, the Court in Btson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79, 106 S.Ct. 1712, 90 L.Ed.2d 69 (1986) overruled Swain v. Alabama, 380 U.S. 202, 85 S.Ct. 824, 13 L.Ed.2d 759 (1965) to the extent it required a defendant to show that a prosecutor exercised peremptory challenges against Blacks in case after case in order to make a prima facie case of discrimination. Under <u>Batson</u>, a defendant may establish a prima facie case of discrimination on the facts of his prosecution by showing he is a member of a racial group; and, that members of that racial group have been excluded from the jury. At that point, the state or federal government must step forward with a neutral explanation. The court pointed out that "neutrality" could not be established on the assumption that jurors would be partial to the defendant because of 'shared race" or by making an affirmation in individual selection.

The Court then began expansion of the **Batson** doctrine. In Holland v. Illinois, 493 U.S. 474, 110 S.Ct. 803, 107 L.Ed.2d 905 (1990), the Court held that a White defendant has standing to raise a Sixth Amendment challenge to the exclusion of Blacks from the petit jury without showing that the White defendant is a member of the racial group excluded; and, in Holland, Equal Protection was neither raised nor argued. Immediately, in Powers v. Ohio, 499 U.S. 400, 111 S.Ct. 1364, 113 L.Ed.2d 411 (1991), the Court closed and addressed the Equal Protection aspect of jury In <u>Powers</u>, the Court held that a White defendant composition. does have standing to object to racial exclusion by peremptory challenges of jurors on Equal Protection grounds under Batson even if the White defendant is not of the same race as the challenged In other words, the White defendant has standing to iurors. assert the Equal Protection rights of the excluded juror. And, the <u>Batson</u> doctrine was extended to civil litigation in <u>Edmonson</u>. v. Leesville Concrete Company, 500 U.S. 614, 111 S.Ct. 2077, 114 L.Ed.2d 660 (1991).

Thereafter, the Court held in Georgia v. McCollum, 505 U.S. 42, 112 S.Ct. 2348, 120 L.Ed.2d 33 (1992) that the "discrimination knife" cuts both ways. Peremptory challenges on the basis of race apply to Defendants as well as to the People. The Court has ruled

 that discriminatory challenges harm both juries and the community; and, state action is involved because the state government allows peremptory challenges.

Two terms later in <u>J.E.B. v. Alabama ex rel. T.B.</u>, 511 U.S. 127, 114 S.Ct. 1419, 128 L.Ed.2d 89 (1994), the Court held that <u>Batson</u> and its progeny prohibit the exercise of peremptory challenges on the basis of gender; however, this line of cases does not prevent the challenge of group or class of people, such as nurses or members of the military, even though it: may disproportionately affect men or women. And, most recently, the Court filed a summary reversal in <u>Puckett v. Elem</u>, 514 U.S. 765, 115 S.Ct. 1769, 131 L.Ed.2d 834 (1995). There Jimmy Elem had been convicted of second-degree robbery in the Missouri state court. There was an objection to the state government's use of peremptory challenges to strike two black men from the jury panel. The prosecutor made the following reply:

> "I struck [juror] number twenty-two because of his long hair. He had long curly He had the longest hair of anybody on hair. the panel by far. He appeared to not be a good juror for that fact, the fact that he had long hair hanging shoulder length, curly, unkempt hair. Also, he had a mustache and a goatee type bear. And juror number twentyfour also has a mustache and goatee type beard. Those are the only two people on the jury . . . with facial hair . . . And I don't

like the way they looked, with the way the hair is cut, both of them. And the mustaches and beards look suspicious to me." App to pet for Cert A-41.

(Text of 131 L.Ed.2d at 838)

÷

The state trial court overruled Mr. Elem's <u>Babsone</u> ction without explanation; and, the case was tried resulting in a conviction. On direct appeal, Mr. Elem asserted that the trial court misapplied <u>Batson</u>. The state appellate court affirmed:

> The Missouri Court of Appeals affirmed, finding that the "state's explanation constituted a legitimate 'hunch" and that " [t]he circumstances failed[ed] to raise the necessary inferences of racial discrimination." <u>State v. Elem</u>, 747 SW2d 772, 775 (Mo App 1988).

> > (Text of 131 L.Ed.2d at 838)

At this point, Mr. Elem had exhausted his Missouri remedies on the claim; and, he sought 28 U.S.C. §2254 relief in the United States District Court. There, the federal habeas court [adopting and confirming the United States Magistrate Judge's Report and Recommendation] found that the Missouri courts' determination that there had been no purposeful discrimination was a factual finding entitled to a presumption of correctness under 28 U.S.C. §2254(d). However, the Eighth circuit reversed on collateral appeal. See,

 ● M ○ ❖ ④ 25 F.3d 679 (8th Cir. 1994), Rehearing and suggestion for Rehearing en Banc Denied July 28, 1994. The federal appellate court held:

2

such as this, where In a case the prosecution strikes a prospective juror who is a member of the defendant's racial group, solely on the basis of factors which are facially irrelevant to the question of whether that person is gualified to serve as a juror in the particular case, the prosecution must at least articulate some plausible raceneutral reason for believing those factors will somehow affect the person's ability to perform his or her duties as a juror. In the present case, the prosecutor's comments, "I don't like the way [he] look[s], with the way the hair is cut And the mustache [] and the bear[] look suspicious to me," do not constitute such legitimate race-neutral reasons for striking juror 22.

(Text of 25 F.2d at 683)

The Supreme Court, in reversing the Eighth Circuit, clarified <u>Batson</u>. The <u>Batson</u> decision describes a three (3) step process for the determination of racial discrimination in jury composition. The Court of Appeals intertwined steps two and three into a single step which was error:

> Under our **Batson** jurisprudence, once the opponent of a peremptory challenge has made out а prima facie case of racial discrimination (step 1), the burden of production shifts to the proponent of the strike to come forward with a race-neutral

explanation (step 2). If a race-neutral explanation is tendered, the trial court must then decide (step 3) whether the opponent of the strike has proved a purposeful racial (citations omitted) The discrimination. second step of this process does not demand an explanation that is persuasive, or even plausible. "At this [second] step of the inquiry, the issue is the facial validity of Unless a the prosecutor's explanation. discriminatory intent is inherent in the prosecutor's explanation, the reason offered will be deemed race neutral."

(Text of 131 L.Ed.2d at 839)

The Court then went forward to address the "long hair" claim:

The prosecutor's proffered explanation in this case--that he struck juror number 22 because he had long, unkempt hair, a mustache, and a beard--is race-neutral and satisfies the prosecution's step 2 burden of articulating a nondiscriminatory reason for the strike. `The wearing of beards is not a characteristic that is peculiar to any race." EEOC v. Greyhound Lines. Inc., 635 F.2d 188, 190 n 3 (CA 3 And neither is the growing of long, 1980). Thus, the inquiry properly unkempt hair. proceeded to step 3, where the state court found that the prosecutor was not motivated by discriminatory intent.

(Text of 131 L.Ed.2d 840)

This Court has looked to our Florida Constitution and expanded these rights. This Court has confirmed the three step procedures to challenge a race based peremptory strike in <u>Melbourne v. State</u>, 679 So.2d 759 (Fla. 1996). Under <u>Melbourne</u>, the defendant must object to the strike on the basis of the juror's status. Then the state government must provide a race neutral reason for the strike. And, then the trial court must determine if the reason is genuine. See, <u>Daniel v. State</u>, <u>So.2d</u>, 22 Fla. Law Weekly D1881 (Fla. 2d DCA No. 95-05248) (Opinion filed August 1, 1997) citing <u>Melbourn</u> and <u>Hernandez v. State</u>, 686 So.2d 735 (Fla. 2d DCA 1997).

¥

8

Against this background, Respondent turns to the district court's certified question. This Court has held in <u>Coney v</u>. <u>State</u>, 653 So.2d 1009 (Fla. 1995), *cert* denied, ______, U.S. _____, 116 S.Ct. 315, 133 L.Ed.2d 218 (1995) that a criminal defendant is entitled to be asked whether he/she wishes to waive his/her right to be present at the bench during the exercise of pretrial juror challenges³. The second district in <u>Hill v. State</u>, 696 So.2d 798 (Fla. 2d DCA 1997), *review granted*, <u>Hill v. State</u>, Fla. No. 90,049 (briefs submitted), in a specially concurring opinion by Judge Altenbernd, has determined that a *"Coney"* issue [even though error] should not be raised on a direct appeal.

³In <u>Boyett v. State</u>, 688 so.2d 308 (Fla. 1996), this Court receded from <u>Conev v. State</u>, 653 so.2d 1009 (Fla.), cert denied, ______ U.S. ____, 117 S.Ct. 315, 133 L.Ed.2d 218 (1995) to the extent that <u>Conev</u> required a defendant's presence at the bench during peremptory challenges.

Respondent urges that if an unpreserved "Coney" claim is raised on direct appeal, the district court can affirm without prejudice permitting the litigant to raise the claim in a Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 motion. At that point, the defendant can allege facts that, if proved before the circuit court, entitle him to relief, For example, a defendant can allege facts to establish that during voir dire he/she did not have a meaningful opportunity to be heard through counsel on striking a particular juror⁴; and, that his/her counsel was ineffective for failing to urge a racial/ethnic challenge in opposition to striking a juror by the state government. A defendant in his postconviction papers can identify the juror; state the ethnic/racial basis for opposing the strike. Of course, a defendant must allege facts which are not conclusionary. And, a defendant must allege facts which are neither palpably incredible nor patently frivolous or false.

For example, if a defendant can allege facts to establish that trial counsel did not make a reasonable pretrial investigation, then a hearing will be held. If a defendant can allege facts to establish that trial counsel failed to interview or depose

⁴The district court opinion does not address whether the January 1, 1997 amendment to Fla.R.Crim.Pr. 3.180(b) should have been applied retroactively which clarifies that a defendant is present if he or she is physically in the courtroom and has a meaningful opportunity to be heard through counsel.

identified "alibi" witnesses who would have exonerated the defendant, then a hearing will be held. This is the classic allegata and probata of ineffective assistance of counsel claims.

Whenever there are matters which must be developed outside the record, then collateral review [and not direct review] is the best course for both parties. To reverse a conviction on direct appeal because of an unpreserved "Coney" error is a heavy decision. As noted in <u>Brecht v. Abrahamson</u>, 507 U.S. 619, 113 S.Ct. 1710, 1721 123 L.Ed.2d 353, 372-73 (1993), the United States Supreme Court recognized that "[r]etrying defendant's whose convictions are set aside imposes significant 'social costs, ' including the expenditure of additional time and resources for all the parties involved, the 'erosion of memory' and 'dispersion of witnesses' which accompany the passage of time and make obtaining convictions on retrial more difficult, and the frustration of 'society's interest in the prompt administration of justice."' Respondent would add that fundamental error goes to the fairness of the proceedings and results in "a complete miscarriage of justice" or disregards "the rudimentary demands of fair procedure." Hill v. <u>United States</u>, 368 U.S. 425, 428, 82 S.Ct. 468, 471, 7 L.Ed.2d 417 (1962). An unpreserved "Coney" error can only be raised on appeal in terms of plain error. A "Coney" error is not 'plain, " that is,

 it should have been obvious to the trial court when made, and prejudicial, that is, so serious as to dictate the outcome of the trial. Respondent would urge that should any of Florida's district courts grant reversal on an unpreserved "coney" error on direct review then that determination would be too projective and speculative bordering on clairvoyance. Again, he claim is best resolved in collateral proceedings as the ground embraces matters outside the record on appeal.

*

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